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PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY REVIEW 2013

BY KIMBERLY A. KNox AND BRENDON P. LEVESQUE*

'"he greatest inequality is to try to make unequal things equal"

Aristotle may or may not have said this, but he surely
would have concerning the disparity in sanctions handed
down this year. As discussed in more detail below, there
needs to be more uniformity in the imposition of sanctions,
for if there is not, then the goals of attorney discipline-to
educate the lawyer and protect the public-will continue to
falter. That being said, like last year there were no land-
mark cases in Connecticut. It was just another average year
in the land of steady habits.

I. STATEWIDE GRIEVANCE COMMITTEE

A. Statistical Analysis1

In 2013 there were 132 decisions issued by reviewing
committees of the Statewide Grievance Committee. The
decisions stem from either full hearings on the merits or
hearings after a conditional admission of misconduct pur-
suant to Section 2-82 of the Practice Book. Sixty-seven
(51%) of the matters were dismissed after a hearing and will
not be discussed further. Some form of discipline was
imposed in the other sixty-three decisions (49%) that the
authors reviewed. 2 Fifty-four percent of the written deci-
sions finding misconduct were after a public hearing on the
merits. The other forty-six percent were approved Section 2-82
dispositions, essentially the "settlement" of the grievance
process.

* Of the Hartford Bar.
1 To compile the data discussed in this article, the authors reviewed sixty-

three decisions by the Statewide Grievance Committee that were decided between
January 1, 2013 and December 31, 2013. The authors included as violations all
violations noted after a decision on the merits. With respect to the Practice Book
Section 2-82 matters, the authors included as Rule violations only those Rules for
which the attorney conditionally admitted there was some evidence of misconduct.

2 Sixty-five decisions imposed discipline. Two decisions, however, were
unavailable at the time of publication and are not included in the ensuing analysis.
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Breakdown of Decisions by Type & Sanction

Discipline 2-82 On the
Overall Dispositions Merits

Presentment 31/63 12/29 19/34

Reprimand + 4/63 2/29 2/34
Conditions

Reprimand 15/63 7/29 8/34
Only

Conditions 13/63 8/29 5/34
Only

Of the sixty-three decisions imposing sanctions, thirty-
one resulted in presentments, nineteen resulted in repri-
mands, and seventeen resulted in some type of conditions. 3

Only four of these decisions resulted in multiple sanctions, in
each case a reprimand and condition.

In 2013, nineteen of the thirty-four decisions on the mer-
its resulted in presentments to the Superior Court. Ten
resulted in reprimands, including two which also imposed
conditions. And the lesser sanction of participation in CLEs
was handed out in five other cases.

Of the twenty-nine Section 2-82 matters, twelve resulted
in presentments. Nine resulted in reprimands, including two
which also imposed conditions. And the lesser sanction of
restitution or participation in CLEs was handed out in eight
other cases.

B. Interesting Developments

The proper use of an IOLTA account remains an issue.
This year, one treatise 4 and the Statewide Grievance

3 The conditions are usually participation in CLEs or restitution.
4 MARK A. DUBOIS & JAMES F. SULLIVAN, CONNECTICUT LEGAL ETHICS &

MALPRACTICE 97 (2013).
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Committee have apparently taken the position that a lawyer
cannot write a check to a creditor out of an IOLTA account.
For the sake of this discussion it is presumed that the money
in question has become the property of the lawyer. Although
it may be a best practice to transfer the money to the law
firm operating account prior to a disbursement, the authors
cannot identify any express language in the Rules that
requires this conduct. In the authors' opinion, an issue arises
only when the money has been in an IOLTA for an
unreasonable amount of time, thus raising the specter of
a commingling of funds in violation of the Rules.

Another interesting development, one not fully discover-
able from the raw number of violations, is the discrepancy
between the thirty-eight initial findings of probable cause
for Rule 1.3 (Diligence) versus the eighteen actual viola-
tions. Thus, only forty-seven percent of probable cause find-
ings resulted in a violation, by far the lowest percentage for
any Rule with more than ten findings of initial probable
cause. This is perhaps more interesting because Rule 1.3 is
frequently paired with Rule 1.4 (Communications) but in
forty-six probable cause findings for Rule 1.4 there were
thirty-three actual violations, or seventy-two percent.

In the authors' opinion, this disparity between probable
cause findings and actual violations is evidence that the system
is working. The local panels apply a fairly low standard. The
panels need to determine whether there is probable cause
that a violation exists.5 Probable cause has been defined as
"a bond fide belief in the existence of the facts essential
under the law for the action and such as would warrant a
man of ordinary caution, prudence and judgment, under the
circumstances, in entertaining it."6 Contrast that with the
clear and convincing standard that must be met to find a
violation of a Rule:

[C]lear and convincing proof denotes a degree of belief that
lies between the belief that is required to find the truth or
existence of the [fact in issue] in an ordinary civil action

5 PRACTICE BOOK § 2-29(f).
6 Wall v. Toomey, 52 Conn. 35, 36 (1884).
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and the belief that is required to find guilt in a criminal
prosecution.... [The burden] is sustained if evidence induces
in the mind of the trier a reasonable belief that the facts
asserted are highly probably true, that the probability that
they are true or exist is substantially greater than the prob-
ability that they are false or do not exist.7

If both standards are applied correctly, then the local panels
should be allowing complaints to proceed that meet the lower
burden of proof but which will later be dismissed under the
higher burden. It appears that this is happening most often
in the context of Rule 1.3, which makes sense given the
uniquely wide range of 1.3 complaints, spanning the spec-
trum from frivolous to meritorious.

The Rule with the second greatest disparity between
probable cause findings and actual violations was Rule 1.1,
which had fifteen findings of initial probable cause and eight
violations, fifty-three percent. By contrast, Rule 8.1 had
twenty-three findings of initial probable cause that resulted
in twenty violations, or eighty-seven percent. That extremely
high percentage proves the authors' point made every year
that the failure to file a response or to comply with a lawful
request for information will almost guarantee some form of
discipline.

Finally, one issue that continues to be of concern is the
lack of consistency in the imposition of discipline. This issue
is addressed in more detail below but the authors strongly
believe that consistency in the imposition of discipline is
essential to fulfilling the purpose of protecting the public and
educating members of the bar. The system is less effective
when one lawyer is suspended for a year for using client's
funds to pay a utility bill while another lawyer is repri-
manded when the amount of missing client's funds is almost
$400,000. At a time when lawyers are not considered to be
bastions of trust and integrity, anything that can be done to
deter bad behavior should be done well and that means with
consistency and predictability.

7 Wildwood Assocs., Ltd. v. Esposito, 211 Conn. 36, 42, 557 A.2d 1241, 1245
(1989) (internal quotation marks omitted).
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C. Recurring Professional Issues

In 2013, the following Rules had the highest number of
violations: Rule 8.4 (Misconduct) with thirty-seven violations;
Rule 1.4 (Communications) with thirty-three violations; Rule
8.1 (Bar Admission and Disciplinary Matters, failing to
timely respond) with twenty violations; Rule 1.3 (Diligence)
with eighteen violations; and Rule 1.15 (Safekeeping
Property) with sixteen violations.

In 2012, the top violations were similar: Rules 8.4, 1.15,
8.1, 1.3, and 1.4. After a two-year spike, there was but one
violation of Rule 5.5 in 2013. While there is no empirical
data, the decline in UPL claims may stem from the reduction
of lawyers participating in debt negotiation and debt
consolidation with out-of-state law firms, absent a license
from the state department of banking.

1. Rule 8.4 Misconduct

Rule 8.4 violations accounted for twenty percent of all
violations in 2013. In one case, an attorney involved in a fee
dispute with his client sent an email to the client informing
her that he would not appear before the Connecticut
Statewide Grievance Committee. The email stated: "[w]hat
I will not do is continue to subject myself to the utterly corrupt
CT Statewide Grievance Committee." The behavior
constituted a violation of Rule 8.4(4) (conduct prejudicial to
the administration of justice) and the year's only violation
of Rule 8.2(a) (statement made with reckless disregard
concerning the qualifications or integrity of a judge, adjudi-
catory officer or public legal officer). 9

In another case, an attorney failed to provide proper
notice of a claim and as a result the client was unable to
pursue that claim.10 Unsurprisingly, the client brought a
malpractice action where the client obtained a judgment.

8 O'Connell v. Melnick, Grievance Complaint No. 12-0129.
9 Rule 8.2 is not often discussed. In Connecticut, an attorney "speaking crit-

ically of a judge or a court must have an objective basis for the statements."
Statewide Grievance Committee v. Burton, 299 Conn. 405, 413, 10 A.3d 507, 513
(2011). Allegations of judicial misconduct that have no basis will subject an attorney
to disciplinary action. Id.

10 Maki v. Carter, Grievance Complaint No. 12-0646.
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The attorney made no attempt to pay on the judgment and
ignored post-judgment interrogatories. A copy of the complaint
was sent to the attorney's current address by registered mail
but was returned unclaimed. It was then sent by regular
mail and not returned. The failure to honor a judgment
and failure to respond to post-judgment interrogatories
constituted a violation of Rule 8.4(4). For failing to respond
to the grievance complaint, the attorney was also held to
have violated Section 2-32(a)(1) of the Practice Book.

The contrast between the two cases highlights two distinct
approaches to Rule 8.4. The authors remain of the opinion
that Rule 8.4 is used both too frequently and sometimes
improperly. The Committee has discretion to consider the
severity of the underlying violation in the absence of a separate
violation of Rule 8.4. If there is a clear violation of a
specifically enumerated Rule, Rule 8.4 should not be used in
the other Rule's stead.

For example, the first attorney's statement that the
Statewide Grievance Committee was "utterly corrupt" is a
violation of Rule 8.2(a). The addition of a second violation of
Rule 8.4(4) for conduct prejudicial to the administration of
justice is a way to increase the disciplinary possibilities for
the same act. But with the second attorney, Rule 8.4(4), in
the authors' opinion, is properly applied. The attorney's
refusal to pay a judgment and to respond to post-judgment
interrogatories is a "serious interference with the adminis-
tration of justice" and would otherwise evade discipline in
the absence of Rule 8.4, which should be used not to amplify
the amount or severity of the discipline, but to protect the
public and educate the offending lawyer.

Violations of Rule 8.4 are considered more serious than
violations of other Rules and the enumerated Rules exist for
a reason. Where there is a violation of a particular Rule, the
Committee is capable of considering the severity of the conduct
in question when meting out discipline. Allowing for
enhanced punishment for a violation of another Rule
through the use of Rule 8.4 is unfair. Rule 8.4 should be used
in situations where conduct detrimental to the profession
would otherwise avoid discipline and not as an exclamation
point to violations of other Rules.

[Vol. 88
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2. Rule 8.1 Bar Admission and Disciplinary Matters;
failing to timely respond

Perhaps the best news in 2013 was that the number of
probable cause findings based on Rule 8.1 fell from thirty-
five in 2012 to twenty-three in 2013. The authors hope that
this reduction is in part because of their position, repeated
ad nauseam, that it is imperative to respond to a grievance
complaint in a timely fashion. The number of violations also
dropped from twenty-five in 2012 to twenty in 2013. The
2013 numbers still represent an increase from 2011, when
there were fifteen probable cause violations that led to
twelve violations. But it seems that 2012 may have been an
outlier rather than a trend. This is good news.

That said, there are still a surprising number of lawyers
who fail to understand the importance of receiving a grievance
complaint or fail to comprehend that ignoring the complaint
will not make it disappear. Others seem to think that
belligerence will win the day. As the authors have previously
noted, a lawyer's failure to respond is misconduct in and of
itself that can and almost certainly will result in discipline.

Although unpleasant to deal with, not dealing with a
disciplinary complaint could lead to increased findings of
misconduct and increased sanctions. In one case, where the
underlying alleged violations of the Rules were unsubstantiated,
the Committee still reprimanded the Respondent based
entirely on a failure to respond to a grievance complaint in
violation of Rule 8.1 and Section 2-32(a)(1) of the Practice
Book." Moreover, many grievance complaints are dismissed
at the local panel level. An attorney who fails to respond
virtually guarantees that this will not occur.

Nevertheless, there was some inconsistency in the appli-
cation of this principle in 2013. In another grievance case, an
attorney accused of violating Rule 1.3 and Rule 1.4 did not
properly respond. The Committee noted, "[w]e are troubled by
the Respondent's attitude towards the grievance process; he
does not appear to take this process seriously."'12 In that case,
the Committee found that the Respondent filed a "bald

11 Walsh v. Sebadduka, Grievance Complaint No. 13-0350.
12 Aljahmi v. McCann, Grievance Complaint No. 12-0305.
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denial of the complaint without providing the local grievance
panel with any facts to explain what did happen in this
case."' 3 The local panel asked for additional information
and the Respondent indicated he had no independent
recollection of what occurred and made no attempt to review
his file independently or to provide any explanation. After
probable cause was found, the Respondent declined to present
any evidence in his defense or appear and offer any additional
evidence that might explain the situation.

The Committee stated, "[wie considered issuing a reprimand
to the Respondent because we are highly critical of his
attitude towards the grievance process and lack of cooperation
in the investigation of this matter."'14 But the Committee
declined to impose a reprimand due to the Respondent's
lack of disciplinary history and his limited representation of
the Complainant. The take-home from these fact patterns is
that it appears the Committee would rather see some type
of response, even if it is a bald denial, rather than an
absolute failure to respond.

The authors have previously noted that filing a response
that fails to address the complaint against a lawyer is the
functional equivalent of not filing any response and could
indicate in some circumstances the same lack of respect for
the judicial process as the failure to file a response.
Although the authors understand the difference between
the two, it is difficult to reprimand an attorney for failing to
respond and not reprimand another for functionally failing
to respond. Imposing no sanctions on those whose respons-
es are perfunctory may encourage the filing of "bald denial"
responses and weaken the disciplinary process

3. Rule 1.15 Safekeeping Property

Rule 1.15, and in particular Section (d), provides that
absent a written agreement with the client stating other-
wise, a lawyer shall deposit into a client trust account legal
fees and expenses that have been paid in advance, to be with-
drawn by the lawyer only as fees are earned or expenses
incurred. Section (e) provides that a lawyer shall, upon

13 Id.
14 Id.
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receiving funds that a client has an interest in, promptly
notify the client and deliver to the client any funds the client
is entitled to receive.

In 2013, violations of Rule 1.15 included a lawyer who
cashed a check meant to pay for a bankruptcy filing fee
when no filing had taken place,15 a lawyer who agreed in
writing to a contingency in a sexual harassment case but
then charged the client hourly and refused to refund the dif-
ference,16 and a lawyer who failed to comply with a court
order to turn over funds to a client. 17

The Grievance Committee has made it clear in the past
that safeguarding a client's money or property is one of the
most essential roles of an attorney as a professional.
Attorneys must be viewed as people to whom significant
sums of money can be entrusted without fear of theft or mis-
appropriation. In the sixteen cases where a violation of Rule
1.15 was substantiated, ten resulted in presentment.
Almost all of the cases where no presentment was ordered
were instances of attorneys mismanaging their IOLTA
accounts resulting in an overdraft.

In one unusual case, a lawyer who had been indefinitely
suspended from the practice of law in Connecticut accepted
into an IOLTA account Social Security payments for a
friend. The Respondent paid the friend's bills and expenses
and kept records for almost six months before transferring
the funds in the account to an attorney who had agreed to
replace the Respondent as the woman's social security
payee. Due to a clerical mix-up, a check that the Respondent
wrote during the transition to the new payee was not honored
due to insufficient funds, resulting in a grievance. The
Committee determined that the Respondent's actions were
"well intentioned and were not meant to deceive or misrep-
resent.... "18 The Respondent was ordered to take continuing
legal education classes. The election to deposit the funds to
an IOLTA, as a suspended lawyer, which deprived the

15 Puzzo v. DiSorbo, Grievance Complaint No. 12-0495.
16 O'Connell v. Melnick, Grievance Complaint No. 12-0129.
17 Throop v. Evans, Grievance Complaint No. 12-0452.
18 Bowler v. Granger, Grievance Complaint No. 12.0549.
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friend of the de minimis interest was not discussed.
As always, there is at least one case where the authors

disagree with the sanction imposed. In Ramirez v.
Garlinghouse, the Respondent was retained by the
Complainant to represent her in a divorce. 19  The
Complainant paid a $5,000 retainer. She briefly met with
her attorney on two occasions and the divorce papers were
filed with the court. But a month later the Complainant
reconciled and asked for an invoice and any unearned
retainer funds. The Respondent did not respond and two
months later the Complainant had to file the withdrawal of
her divorce action herself. A few days before the grievance
hearing, the Respondent sought to provide an accounting in
which he claimed to have worked for ten hours on the matter
but did not provide any contemporaneous records. The
funds in question remained in the Respondent's IOLTA and
the Committee reprimanded the Respondent despite giving
"little credence to the Respondent's belated attempt to provide
an accounting in this matter." The Respondent was also
ordered to pay $4,000 in restitution and take legal education
classes.

Maybe it was the fact that the Respondent held on to the
funds in question or perhaps because it involved, relatively
speaking, a small sum of money, the Respondent escaped
with a reprimand despite a blatant violation of Rule 1.15(e),
as well as Rule 1.3 and Rule 1.16(d) in failing to refund
unearned retainer fees. From the perspective of a client who
had to wait more than a year for the return of a sizeable
sum of money, not to mention an accounting of what it was
spent on, this punishment does not seem the kind of deterrent
that would restore flagging faith in the integrity of attorneys.
Moreover, if the goal is to protect the public, this hardly seems
like a fitting sanction.

That said, there can be no question concerning the seri-
ousness with which the Committee approaches violations of
Rule 1.15. The lesson for attorneys is that, despite an occa-
sional anomaly, one of the quickest ways to wind up in

19 Ramirez v. Garlinghouse, Grievance Complaint No. 12-0826.
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Superior Court on an ethics violation is to violate Rule 1.15.

4. Rule 1.3 (Diligence) and Rule 1.4 (Communications)

Diligence and communications are often linked and
accordingly will be discussed together. The Rules appeared
together in eleven of twenty-four decisions involving either
Rule. Rule 1.3 showed up by itself in ten cases while Rule
1.4 appeared solo in only three cases.

The Rules violations in 2013 were not remarkably different
from those in previous years. For example, failing to return
phone calls may result in a violation of Rule 1.4.20 Failing to
obtain title to a car used as security in a business deal and
failing to inform the complainant of that default was a viola-
tion of Rule 1.4.21 As always, failure to bring an action on
behalf of the complainant before the statute of limitations
ran, including a 90-day extension, can be a violation of Rule
1.3.22 In addition, failing to pursue an appeal with no notice
or explanation or to respond to the complainant's requests
for information resulted in violations of Rules 1.3, 1.4(a)(2),
(3), and (4).23 In another matter, the lawyer failed to file for
bankruptcy on behalf of his client. He lied to his client and
told her that the matter was "all set."24 The Committee
found a violation of Rule 1.3 based on the failure to file a
bankruptcy petition and a violation of Rule 1.4(a) for failing
to communicate with his client.

One complainant brought two grievances against the two
lawyers defending him in a matter in which the opposition
filed a motion for summary judgment.25 Unfortunately, no
opposition to the motion for summary judgment was filed by
either lawyer. The primary attorney was presented to
Superior Court for, inter alia, failing to file an opposition to
a motion for summary judgment. 26 The other attorney was
reprimanded for violating Rules 1.3 and 1.4(a) and (b)

20 Bustamante v. Ramos-Perez, Grievance Complaint No. 12-0362.
21 Aljahmi, Grievance Complaint No. 12-0305.
22 Salisbury v. Fitzgerald, Grievance Complaint No. 12-0349.
23 Lisitano v. Alexander, Grievance Complaint No. 12-0608.
24 Puzzo,Grievance Complaint No. 12-0495.
25 Lagasse v. Garver, Grievance Complaint No. 12-0034; Lagasse v. Sherlock,

Grievance Complaint No. 12-0035.
26 Garver, No. 12-0034.

2014]



CONNECTICUT BAR JOURNAL

because he should have taken steps to ensure that a
response was filed and he had an obligation to communicate
to the client the status of the matter. 27 The Committee
differentiated the sanctions based on the intended division
of responsibility for the legal work. 28

5. Rule 1.5 Fees

There was a Rule 1.5 case that involved a "non-refundable"
flat fee agreement of $10,000.29 As a preliminary matter,
non-refundable flat fee retainers are not permissible. The
agreement also included a "success fee" of $5,000, which was
at the sole discretion of the complainant. The complainant
paid $10,000 for fees and $4,060.80 for costs. All was well
until the court ordered post-trial briefs and the respondent
demanded an additional $6,000, which the complainant
refused to pay. The respondent countered that he would not
prepare the brief without the additional payment. The com-
plainant paid the additional $6,000 and filed a grievance.
The Committee found a violation of Rule 1.5(a) where the
$6,000 was unreasonable because the flat fee retainer
included the post-trial brief.

Two points are worth noting. First, do not use non-
refundable flat fee retainers. Second, if you use flat fee
retainers you should set up benchmarks for payment and
put a limitation on the services provided. For example, specify
that a particular amount or percentage is due after a certain
task is completed. This will ensure that the client's expecta-
tions are consistent with the work and payment schedule
and it should avoid confusion regarding the scope of the
agreement. The other benefit is that as all of the money will
not be used until the matter is resolved, the client presum-
ably will have some money left over to hire a new attorney
in case your relationship breaks down.

27 Sherlock, No. 12-0035.
28 Id.
29 Chiulli v. O'Brien, Grievance Complaint No. 12-0316 (the "non-refundable"

flat fee of $10,000 did not include costs).
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D. Statewide Grievance Committee Advertising Advisory
Opinions

In 2013, pursuant to Section 2-28B of the Practice Book,
the Statewide Grievance Committee issued eight advertising
opinions under the voluntary pre-approval process, the
same number it published in 2012. Of the eight opinions, six
concluded that the advertising complied with the Rules.
They were: (i) a general firm advertisement; 30  (ii) a
brochure regarding family mediation services; 31 (iii) a print
advertisement soliciting plaintiffs for a class action law-
suit;32 (iv) another print advertisement soliciting class
action plaintiffs; 33 (v) a letter soliciting homeowners under-
going foreclosure; 34 and (vi) an advertisement soliciting
clients injured by medical device.35 This process should be
employed on a regular basis prior to employing new adver-
tising. If there are problems, the Committee will point them
out and they can be corrected prior to running the adver-
tisement and potentially subjecting oneself to discipline.

Of the two advertisements that violated the Rules, one was
a television advertisement for personal injury services 36 and
the other was a joint advertisement for real estate services. 37

The television advertisement suffered from only one
problem. While the commercial included the name, address,
phone number, and website information at intervals with
each screen change, the Committee found that the attorney's
address appeared on screen for eight seconds and the phone
number for twelve seconds, both failing to comply with the
fifteen-second time period required by Rule 7.2(d).

The joint advertisement for real estate services was a
general mass mailing of post cards listing a law firm, real
estate broker, and mortgage originator along with the

30 Advisory Opinion No. 13-07108-A.
31 Advisory Opinion No. 13-04044-A.
32 Advisory Opinion No. 13-06957-A.
33 Advisory Opinion No. 13-06958-A.
34 Advisory Opinion No. 13-08337-A.
35 Advisory Opinion No. 13-04157-A.
36 Advisory Opinion No. 13-02510-A.
37 Advisory Opinion No. 13-01870-A.
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phrases "Real Estate Services Under One Roof' and "A
Name You Can Trust For All Your Legal Needs" directly
under the law firm's name. The Committee found that it
violated Rules 7.1 and 7.5(d) because it was misleading in
failing to state that each business was a separate entity
participating in joint advertising. This is an example where
qualifying language will avoid confusing consumers and
prevent an ethical violation.

Finally, one of the approved advertisements warrants
discussion-namely, the brochure for family mediation services
including limited scope representation, referred to as "legal
coaching."38 The Committee approved the brochure but then
went a step further in stating that any such arrangement
must comply with Rule 1.2(c), which allows an attorney to
limit the representation of a client only if reasonable and if
the client gives informed consent. 39 In addition, if the
brochure were to be sent to prospective clients based on
their legal needs, Rule 7.3(c) would govern and the brochure
would need to be labeled as "Advertising Material" in red
ink and include a caveat in the event the recipient had hired
a lawyer. If sent out to the general public with no consider-
ation of specific legal needs, however, no such labeling or
caveat is required. The Committee assumed that the
brochure would be sent out to the general public because the
requesting attorney did not state otherwise.

The Committee went on to discuss the filing requirements
of Section 2-28A of the Practice Book, noting that if mediation
was the exclusive practice of the firm, the proposed
advertisement would be exempt from filing requirements
because mediation and related services are specifically
exempted from the definition of the practice of law under
Section 2-44A(b)(3). If mediation services were offered as
a component of their legal practice, however, as was the
case here, the advertisement must be filed. The

38 Advisory Opinion No. 13-04044-A.
39 At the time of the opinion, the new procedural rules governing limited

scope representation were not in effect. Those rules went into effect on January 1,
2014. PRACTICE BOOK § 3-9.
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Committee further noted that the Rules Committee of the
Superior Court is contemplating amending the rules to
allow attorneys to file a limited appearance in the area of
family law. Although the Grievance Committee noted that it
could not address whether the arrangement offered in the
proposed advertisement was permissible, it cautioned that
it would be misleading to offer legal services that violated
the Rules of Professional Conduct.

II. CASE LAW DEVELOPMENTS

A. On Appeal

First, the United States Supreme Court limited attorney
access to DMV records in a case addressing the interplay
between attorney solicitation of clients and laws governing
an individual's right to privacy. 40 The attorneys successfully
made a FOIA request to a state department of motor vehicles
for the records of over 30,000 persons who had recently
purchased new or used automobiles. The attorneys made
the request pursuant to an exception under the federal
Driver's Privacy Protection Act, 41 which allows the disclo-
sure of personal information, including a person's image,
social security number, and medical and disability information
"for use in connection with any.. .investigation in anticipation
of litigation."42  A different exception for "solicitations"
would have given the lawyers much less information and
required consumer consent. 43

The attorneys sent letters, clearly marked as advertising
material, asking these car purchasers if they were interested
in joining a lawsuit against certain automobile dealers.
Although the lawyers apparently complied with the relevant
ethics requirements, 44 the Supreme Court pushed back in
favor of the consumer, holding that attorneys wore business

40 Maracich v. Spears, 133 S. Ct. 2191 (2013).
41 18 U.S.C. § 2721(b)(4).
42 Maracich, 133. S. Ct. at 2199.
43 Id.
44 Id. at 2221 n.9 (Ginsburg, J., dissenting).
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hats when they solicited clients and the exception was limited
to the attorney-litigator not the attorney-advertiser. 4 5

Second, in a surprising turn of events, the Connecticut
Supreme Court excepted public defenders from the ordinary
conflict of interest Rules. In a habeas corpus proceeding, the
Court reached the result it wanted by misconstruing the
Commentary to Rule 1.11 and then creating, out of whole
cloth, an exception to imputed disqualification for govern-
ment lawyers, an exception that does not exist anywhere in
the Rules. 46

The issue was whether there was a conflict of interest
where two public defenders in the same office represented
clients with potentially divergent interests. In crafting this
new exception for government lawyers, the Connecticut
Supreme Court relied on Rule 1.10(d), which deals with
lawyers moving into new government positions, and on one
parsed out (or 'out of context') sentence from the
Commentary to Rule 1.11, which states:

Because of the special problems raised by imputation with-
in a government agency, subSection (d) does not impute the
conflicts of a lawyer currently serving as an officer or
employee of the government to other associated govern-
ment officers or employees, although ordinarily it will be
prudent to screen such lawyers. 47

The Court ignored the reference to subsection (d), which
states that government lawyers are subject to conflict of
interest Rules 1.7 and 1.9. If there is any doubt the Court
missed the mark, the Commentary to Rule 1.10 references
Rule 1.1 (d) and reiterates that the exception in question is
only for lawyers moving into new government positions,
which was not the case here.

45 Id. at 2209-10 (majority opinion). The Supreme Court did not hold that the
predominant purpose of the conduct here was solicitation of clients; it remanded
for a finding on that issue. Id.

46 Anderson v. Comm'r of Corr., 308 Conn. 456, 64 A.3d 325 (2013).
47 CONN. RULES OF PROF'L CONDUCT R. 1.11, cmt.
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Neither Rule 1.10(d), nor Rule 1.11(d), nor the commentary
to Rule 1.11 deals with concurrent conflicts that arise within
a single government office in the course of working there.
Nor do they allow for the wholesale exemption of govern-
ment attorneys from the Rules regarding conflicts of interest.
There is no logical reason to make that distinction. The
Rules cited by the Supreme Court are inapposite. The proper
analysis is pursuant to Rule 1.7 governing conflicts of
interest for current clients and Rule 1.10 on imputed dis-
qualification. In this case, the proper analysis likely leads
to disqualification.

Third, the Connecticut Appellate Court issued several
notable decisions, two in cases where counsel tried to use
the ethical rules offensively and one in a case about charging
liens.

Although the authors have observed a steady rise in the
use of alleged ethics violations as litigation swords, that tactic
failed in Doctor's Associates, Inc. v. Windha, where opposing
counsel's alleged violation of Rule 3.3(d) in not making
required disclosures was firmly rejected as grounds for over-
turning an arbitration decision. 48 After the court rejected
the appeal under the standard of review applicable to arbi-
tration cases, it then provided a thoughtful discussion of the
proper application of the Rules of Professional Conduct.
Relying on language in the Scope provisions of the Rules,
the Appellate Court held that the Rules are not to be used
by "antagonist[s] in a collateral proceeding" seeking enforce-
ment of the Rule. 49 The court also found no evidence of
unethical behavior.

Similarly, in In re Nyasia H., an appeal based on the
denial of a motion for disqualification under Rule 1.11 was
unsuccessful and the judgment terminating parental rights
was affirmed. 50 The Appellate Court refused to disqualify
an attorney where she acted only as manager of a program
that provided legal representation and did not "participate

48 Doctor's Assocs., Inc. v. Windham, 146 Conn. App. 768, 81 A.3d 230 (2013).
49 Id. at 780.
50 In re Nyasia H., 146 Conn. App. 375, 76 A.3d 757 (2013).
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personally and substantially" in the so-called conflict case in
any representative capacity. 51

Finally, the application of charging liens in dissolution
actions was settled in Olszewski v. Jordan.52 The Appellate
Court held that a charging lien in connection with a disso-
lution action is permissible under the charging lien provi-
sion in Rule 1.8(i)(1) and not a violation of Rule 1.5. The
Appellate Court concluded that Rule 1.5 was not implicated
because a charging lien would not render a rejected fee "con-
tingent upon the securing of a dissolution of marriage ... or
upon the amount of alimony or support, or property settle-
ment in lieu thereof."53  The Court recognized that the
charging lien is merely a tool that would assist a lawyer in
securing payment for services rendered. The court also
rejected the argument that the attorney's legal services
must actually create a new asset-such as one created in a
personal injury case-in order to recognize such a lien. 54

B. Superior Court Decisions

The year offered a mixed bag of legal decisions. As the
authors discussed last year, there continue to be disparities
in disciplinary sanctions and numerous cases where the
Rules are used as a litigation tactic, primarily to disqualify
opposing counsel. Although the attorney's fees rule, Rule 1.5,
remains the most commonly discussed of the Rules of
Professional Conduct, it was rarely discussed in depth.
Divided into disciplinary and non-disciplinary cases, this is
what the courts in Connecticut opined on during 2013.

1. Disparities in Discipline

The disparity in punishment among disciplinary cases is
remarkable. A closer look at the cases illustrates the point.

In Disciplinary Counsel v. Parnoff, the Office of Chief

51 Id. at 382.
52 Olszewski v. Jordan, 144 Conn. App. 144, 71 A.3d 1276 (2013).
53 Id. at 151.
54 Id. at 152.
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Disciplinary Counsel sought a twelve-year disbarment
under Section 2-47A of the Practice Book. 55 After all, the
attorney violated Rule 1.15(f) by unilaterally transferring
disputed fees of more than $350,000 into his personal
account. 56 In rejecting the application of this Rule, the court
held that the attorney's failure to continue to escrow the
funds did not reflect any lack of integrity on his part and
that he did not act to willfully deceive. 57

In Disciplinary Counsel v. Bachman, an attorney was
suspended for eight years after stealing money. Bachman
stole from his elderly aunt who was suffering from dementia.
Although no clients' funds were involved and he was not acting
as her attorney, he was suspended for eight years primarily
because the misconduct involved a fiduciary relationship in
which he was acting as a power of attorney. 58 The court con-
sidered as aggravating factors his "dishonest and selfish
motive and the period of time over which the misconduct
occurred . . . ."59 The mitigating factors included "the
absence of a prior disciplinary record for Bachman, his per-
sonal issues including the loss of his job and financial
issues, separation, and emotional issues, his character as
evidenced by the witnesses at the sentencing hearing, and
the fact that he fully accepted responsibility for his conduct
and apologized for same."60

In Cannatelli v. Statewide Grievance Committee, an
attorney represented a client through a lengthy divorce

55 Section 2-47A requires disbarment for a knowing misappropriation of
clients' funds or other property held in trust.

56 Disciplinary Counsel v. Parnoff, CV-12-6031943-S, 2013 WL5614736
(Conn. Super. Ct. Sept. 19, 2013). As of this writing, the matter was on appeal
before the Connecticut Appellate Court (A.C. 36319). The trial court decision noted
that the "remaining funds" had been restored to escrow but was silent on the avail-
ability of the full $363,961 in transferred funds. Id. at *7.

57 Id. at *6. The appellate issues include whether the trial court's other find-
ings permitted a finding of no "knowing misappropriation" and whether the stan-
dard for knowing misappropriation is the tort concept of "intent" or requires only
that the attorney have "actual knowledge of the fact in question."

58 Disciplinary Counsel v. Bachman, CV-12-6028193-S, 2013 WL 6510765
(Conn. Super. Ct. Nov. 14, 2013).

59 Id. at *2.
60 Id.
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proceeding.61 After trial, the attorney brought an appeal to
the Appellate Court which was dismissed. He filed an
unsuccessful petition for certification to the Connecticut
Supreme Court. But the attorney did not stop there. He filed
a new action in New Haven seeking an order vacating the
divorce judgment and asking for a new trial. In defense of
the filing, he claimed he could not get a fair hearing in
Meriden where the original decree had entered. There can
be no debate that the attorney pushed past the limits of
zealous advocacy by ignoring the rule on finality of judg-
ments, the cost of frivolous pleadings to both courts and lit-
igants, and the significance of the accusations he leveled at
the Meriden judiciary. Thus, the Superior Court affirmed
the Grievance Committee's decision to reprimand him for
violations of Rules 3.1 and 8.4(4).

In Koleci v. Statewide Grievance Committee, the Superior
Court affirmed a reprimand for failing to provide a written
fee agreement pursuant to Rule 1.5.62 The appellant argued
that his providing a receipt which stated "preparation of N-
400 only! $250 each applicant" was sufficient to satisfy the
requirement of a written fee agreement. 63 The Superior
Court disagreed, concluding that "[t]here is sufficient evi-
dence in the record to find that the appellant knew of his
obligation to prepare an agreement pursuant to the rule and
failed to do so."64 This seems at best a technical violation of
the rule. The receipt did indicate the scope of the agreement
and how much it would cost. It is difficult to reconcile a rep-
rimand here with the reprimands issued in the cases above.

Finally, of similar concern is the lack of predictability in
when an attorney will be suspended. On the one hand, in
Chief Disciplinary Counsel v. Rozbicki, an attorney was

61 Cannatelli v. Statewide Grievance Committee, CV-12-6036377-S, 2013
WL5879058 (Conn. Super. Ct. Oct. 10, 2013).

62 Koleci v. Statewide Grievance Committee, CV-12-6028520-S, 2013 WL
3119036 (Conn. Super. Ct. May 29, 2013). The attorney had provided a written
receipt for the amount paid. But that was deemed insufficient under Rule 1.5 and
the Commentary.

63 Id. at *1-2.
64 Id. at *3.
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suspended from practice with automatic reinstatement
after two years, subject to the condition that he take and
pass an ethics course. 65 In that case, the attorney was found
to have violated Rules 1.2, 1.3, 1.4, 1.7 2.1, 4.4, and 8.4 in
the course of administering a simple estate when he unnec-
essarily delayed the process in a scorched earth campaign
against the beneficiaries to collect on a personal debt that
the estate allegedly owed him.

And in Disciplinary Counsel v. Starkey, an attorney was
suspended for eighteen months for dilatory tactics, repeated
failures to abide by court orders, and showing no remorse
for his conduct towards the court or the judicial process. 66

The court aptly observed:

Based on its experience, the court is convinced that, by
making the smallest of disagreements with opposing coun-
sel into an all-out litigation war and by thwarting the
orders of the court, lawyers do their clients a disservice. For
a lawyer to engage in this sort of conduct inevitably runs up
the bill, delays the resolution of the case, alienates people
he or she is trying to persuade, and ultimately risks losing
the case.67

The court concluded that the public needed protection from
such an attorney, who in turn needed time to reflect on his
profession and obtain legal education.

Suspension was likely appropriate in these two cases.
And one must ask whether the aggressive litigation tactics
on display there were so much more egregious than the con-
duct alleged in the other cases discussed above.

65 Chief Disciplinary Counsel v. Rozbicki, CV-11-6004519-S, 2013 WL
1277298 (Conn. Super. Ct. Mar. 8, 2013), aff'd, 150 Conn. App. 472, 91 A.3d 932
(2014). See also Rozbicki v.Gisselbrecht, CV-10-6001830-S, 2013 WL 3119390
(Conn. Super. Ct. May 30, 2013), where the court found that the same attorney wil-
fully failed to comply with a court order and allowed him additional time to act in
compliance.

66 Disciplinary Counsel v. Starkey, CV-12-6034309-S, 2013 WL 1800359
(Conn. Super. Ct. Apr. 2, 2013).

67 Id. at *4.
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The authors offer two suggestions to address these recurring
disparities in discipline. The first is simple: publish the
dismissal decisions. This will provide a more complete view
of the disciplinary landscape, clearly showing what conduct
does and does not rise to the level of a violation of the Rules.
The second suggestion is to broaden the spectrum of available
sanctions. For instance, in New York, the Third Judicial
Department created three separate low-level reprimands: (i)
an admonition for when misconduct is established by clear
and convincing evidence but is not serious enough to warrant
formal disciplinary proceedings; (ii) a letter of caution for
when misconduct is established by clear and convincing
evidence but is not serious enough to warrant either formal
disciplinary proceedings or an admonition; and (iii) a letter
of education for when the actions do not necessarily rise to
the level of misconduct but do warrant comment. 68 This
greater range of options would allow the Committee in
borderline cases to opt for the lesser sanction rather than
feel compelled to impose a formal reprimand or condition
lest the attorney get off scot-free.

Some attorneys might be concerned that this would lead
to an increase in the number of violations found and a
decrease in the number of outright dismissals. The authors
see no basis for such a concern. The Committee would still
have to get over the hurdle of proving a violation by clear
and convincing evidence. Concededly, there may be a slight
increase in the number of violations found when the evidence
is right at the boundary of clear and convincing. But the
authors suspect that these marginal cases would be vastly
outweighed by the benefit of a system with a more rational
apportionment of discipline. Such a system would not remedy
a situation where the court balks at the severity of a suspen-
sion and as a result scales the punishment back to the next
highest level of reprimand. But it would combat that same
phenomenon at the lower end of the discipline spectrum.

2. Other Disciplinary Cases of Note

First, passive review of paralegals' work on consumer

68 N.Y.CT. RULES § 806.4(c)(1)(ii)-(iv).
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debt negotiation was held to constitute the practice of law in
Saas v. Statewide Grievance Committee.69 A Connecticut
attorney worked for an out-of-state law firm which
performed consumer debt negotiation and settlement work.
The Connecticut attorney, albeit briefly, reviewed a file for
a Connecticut resident for statute of limitations issues,
cross-collateralization with secured debts, and bankruptcy
status. A paralegal negotiated and settled the matter and
the attorney reviewed the settlement. The court found,
contrary to the Committee, that the attorney was engaged
in the practice of law.70 This case is representative of
others in which attorneys representing consumer debtors
were challenged by the regulatory authorities about their
practice model, which often relies heavily on support staff,
much like real estate practices, but is really no different
from a traditional law practice. The sanction of continuing
legal education for the finding of a Rule 5.5 violation was
rescinded and the case remanded to determine whether the
attorney had instead violated Rule 1.5, 1.15, or 5.3.71

Second, two noteworthy cases demonstrated the impact
of a criminal conviction on an attorney's ability to practice
law. In Disciplinary Counsel v. Uhl, an attorney convicted of
a felony in federal court could not seek reinstatement to
practice law until the conclusion of his suspension from
practice by the federal court or the termination of the
federal criminal probation period.72 And in D.C. Chief
Disciplinary Counsel v. Briggs, an attorney convicted by a
District of Columbia court for receipt of child pornography

69 Saas v. Statewide Grievance Committee, CV-11-6024609-S, 2013 WL
388204 (Conn. Super. Ct. Jan. 2, 2013).

70 Id. at *9. The matter was remanded for further proceedings consistent
with the opinion. Id. at *12.

71 Id. at *11. The Committee had originally found that the attorney violated
Rule 5.5 by assisting the out-of-state law firm in the unauthorized practice of law
in Connecticut. Id. at *2.

72 Disciplinary Counsel v. Uhl, CV-11-6022613-S, 2013 WL 6334632 (Conn.
Super. Ct. Nov. 5, 2013). The decision is not entirely clear, stating that "application
for reinstatement shall not be made the later of the conclusion of the suspension
period, or the termination of the respondent's federal probation period." In the
authors' opinion, adding the word "before" before the word "later" is the most
reasonable construction.
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was placed on interim suspension in Connecticut pending
final disposition of disciplinary proceedings in D.C. 73 When
weighing, on the one hand, the interest of a lawyer convicted
of one or more crimes in earning a living versus, on the
other hand, the need for public trust in officers of the court
and the attorney's oath to uphold the law, the scales of jus-
tice will tip against the lawyer.

Third, in an unprecedented move, the Superior Court
decided to unmoor itself from the Rules of Professional
Conduct and instead set off to craft its own vision of profes-
sional misconduct, essentially by fiat. In Disciplinary
Counsel v. Zelotes, an attorney who admitted to many dates
with a client spent sipping wine, holding hands, kissing, and
listening to soft music with the lights dimmed was held to
have violated conflict of interest Rule 1.7 and Rule 8.4 on
conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice; but not
the no sex rule, Rule 1.8(j).74

The court's analysis at this point was already faltering.
As noted earlier, Rule 8.4 should be used to address conduct
on which the other Rules are silent. Here, Rule 1.8(j)
squarely addresses the situation at issue and prohibits only
"sexual relations" with a client. 75 Had the Rules Committee
also wished to prohibit kissing, it could have done so. Casus
omissus pro omisso habendus est. That is, "a matter not cov-
ered is to be treated as not covered."76 It is hard to imagine
that although the Rules Committee specifically determined
that kissing did not rise to the level of conduct that it wished
to forbid in the Rule addressing entangling personal rela-
tionships, it nevertheless intended other more general Rules
to sweep up the exact same conduct as a per se violation of
the Rules.

73 D.C. Chief Disciplinary Counsel v. Briggs, CV-13-6040063-S, 2013 WL
3970785 (Conn. Super. Ct. July 18, 2013).

74 Disciplinary Counsel v. Zelotes, CV-12-6013168-S, 2013 WL 3769820
(Conn. Super. Ct. June 28, 2013).

75 CONN. RULES OF PROF'L CONDUCT R. 1.8(j).
76 ANTONIN SCALIA & BRYAN A. GARNER, READING LAW: THE INTERPRETATION OF

LEGAL TEXTS 93 (2012).
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Moreover, in applying Rule 8.4, the court asked not
whether the attorney's conduct was "prejudicial to the
administration of justice" but rather whether "a reasonable
general public ... would thoroughly disapprove."77 That is
not the standard. If it were, then attorneys would engage in
professional misconduct every time they foreclosed on a poor
homeowner on behalf of a multinational bank, or zealously
defended a murderer at trial. And most lobbyists would be
engaging in professional misconduct simply by existing. To
the extent that Rule 8.4 invokes a reasonable person stan-
dard, it is necessarily a reasonable member of the legal
profession.

But the court did not stop there. Perhaps recognizing the
flaws in its analysis, it concluded by asserting that it need
not "prove the violation of a specific rule"; rather, it found
that "under the totality of the circumstances, professional
misconduct occurred." 78

The implications of such a finding are breathtaking.
Dissatisfied with the result under the actual Rules, the
court held-in almost as many words-that it could substitute
its whim. As authority the court cited only one case, in
which the Connecticut Supreme Court held that a court during
a presentment could inquire after Rules other than those
named in the presentment without offending the notice
provision of due process. 79 It was, in short, a case about
notice of existing Rules; not a make-your-own-Rules case.8 0

One can only hope that Zelotes is an aberration.

77 Zelotes, 2013 WL 3769820, at *2.
78 Id.
79 Id. (citing Statewide Grievance Committee v. Botwick, 226 Conn. 299, 310,

627 A.2d 901, 907-08 (1993)).
80 Admittedly, the Botwick Court relied on language from an earlier case that

is troubling. In a footnote at the end of that earlier case, the Court mused in dicta
about the scope of the Rules. Statewide Grievance Committee v. Rozbicki, 219
Conn. 473, 476 n.3, 595 A.2d 819, 820 n.3. The Court noted that the old Code of
Professional Responsibility under which that case was decided "did not attempt to
define the full measure of behavior that would constitute misconduct." Id.
Ordinarily, one could dismiss such commentary as applicable to the Code but
superseded by the Rules. But the way the Court reached this conclusion precludes
such an easy dismissal. To wit, the Court quoted the Court quoted the Code's
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3. The Rules beyond Attorney Discipline

First, in a continuing legal saga between a masonry con-
tractor and an attorney, the contractor won a civil judg-
ment, affirmed on appeal, where the jury awarded compen-
satory damages of $7,700 and the court awarded attorney's
fees, punitive damages, costs, expert costs and prejudgment
interest in excess of $85,000.81 The attorney had previously
been found to have violated the Rules of Professional
Conduct due to his outrageous conduct in dealing with and
refusing to pay the contractor a balance of $5,000 upon com-
pletion of the work.82 While the Rules do not give rise to
civil liability, a violation of the Rules is excellent fodder for
the factfinder, be it judge or jury. There is almost nothing
more compelling than being able to recount how the lawyer
in question violated the Rules of Professional Conduct or
failed to comply with the Rules that govern lawyers.

preamble to the effect that:

The Code of Professional Responsibility points the way to the
aspiring and provides standards by which to judge the trans-
gressor. Each lawyer must find within his own conscience the
touchstone against which to test the extent to which his actions
should rise above minimum standards. But in the last analysis
it is the desire for the respect and confidence of the members of
his profession and of the society which he serves that should pro-
vide to a lawyer the incentive for the highest possible degree of
ethical conduct. The possible loss of that respect and confidence
is the ultimate sanction.

Id. Despite the obvious and repeated reference to extra-legal sanction and rising
above one's minimum required duties, the Court appeared to take this as proof that
it could enforce the soft whisperings of a lawyer's conscience with the mallet of pro-
fessional discipline. And it analogized to the preface to the current Rules, which
states that the Rules "do not, however, exhaust the moral and ethical considera-
tions that should inform ... a lawyer" in the practice of law. Id. Again, the refer-
ence to extra-legal, moral considerations could not be clearer. One hopes that if the
Court revisits this language in the Rules, it will clarify that it refers to a personal
code of morality and ethics outside the confines of professional discipline and not
to the notion that the law must seep to fill every nook and cranny of good manners,
at least for lawyers.

81 Creative Masonry & Chimney, LLC v. Johnson, 142 Conn. App. 135, 64
A.3d 359 (2013).

82 The Statewide Grievance Committee found the defendant violated Rules
3.4(7), 8.4(3) and 8.4(4). Id. at 141 n.2. For further discussion, see Kimberly A.
Knox & Brendon P. Levesque, Professional Responsibility Review 2011, 86 CONN.
B.J. 201, No. 3 (2012).
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Second, in two cases, one in Connecticut federal district
court and one in Connecticut state court, a party tried to
attack collaterally an attorney's fee agreement in an
attempt to ward off an award of fees. Both attempts failed.

In the federal case, the court rejected the defendants'
attempt to avoid entirely an award of punitive damages
based on the claim that the plaintiffs' contingency fee agree-
ment was void as against public policy. 83 The plaintiffs' fee
agreement was a one-third fee contingency agreement
which included an additional 16.667 percent if the judgment
was appealed. The U.S. District Court held that the defen-
dants lacked standing to challenge the validity of the plain-
tiffs' contingency fee agreement, as distinct from the rea-
sonableness of the fee itself. The court then went on to hold
that the extra 16.667 percent was unreasonable in light of
the same statute the defendants relied on to argue that the
fee agreement was void, General Statutes § 52-251c, and
awarded the plaintiffs punitive damages in the amount of
only the flat one-third fee plus costs. 84

In the state case, the court rejected a similar attempt to
use the Rules in a collateral action.85 The plaintiff had suc-
cessfully brought an action against the defendant financial
institution claiming conversion, civil theft, and a violation of
the Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act.86 She then
made a claim for attorney's fees under CUTPA. The defen-
dant argued that the court should deny her claim because
the plaintiffs contingency fee agreements with two of her
legal counsel violated Rule 1.5 by not being in writing. The
plaintiffs counsel responded that the fees were hourly. The
court, in a treatise-like discussion, held that even if there
was a violation of Rule 1.5, the defendant's argument failed
for three reasons. 87 First, the Rules are not to be used for a

83 Fraser v. Wyeth, Inc., No. 3:04-CV-1373 (JBA), 2013 WL 4012764 (D.
Conn. Aug. 5, 2013).

84 Fraser, 2013 WL 4012764, at *7.
85 Odell v. Wallingford Mun. Fed. Credit Union, CV-10-6012228-S, 2013 WL

4734783 (Conn. Super. Ct. Aug. 8, 2013).
86 CONN. GEN. STAT. §§ 42-110a to 42-110q.
87 Odell, 2013 WL 4734783, at *21.
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strategic advantage in litigation without standing to do so.
Second, the determination of reasonable fees is done using
many factors. Third, it would unjustly punish the plaintiff
for the lawyer's conduct.88

Third, conflicts of interest were a notable theme in four
cases.

In a case of alleged first impression, the court held that
the "former client" conflict of interest rule applies to a
deceased former client.8 9 The attorney who represented the
husband in a divorce action was disqualified from repre-
senting the ex-wife, after the husband died, in a quiet title
action which hinged on an interpretation of the dissolution
judgment. The court followed the reasoning of the Supreme
Court of Oregon, the only court in the country to have decided
the issue. 90 In disqualifying the lawyer, the court stated:

[T]he former client's interests in the real estate survive the
death of the former client because the former client's inter-
est in the real estate at issue continues to be represented by
the estate. Further, as in Hostetter, the interests of the for-
mer client and the subsequent client are adverse from the
outset, as they were adverse during the dissolution action
and continue to be adverse in the present quiet title action.
The defendant has established sufficient cause for disqual-
ification. 91

Next, an attorney was disqualified after disclosing that
he married his client two weeks before filing his appear-
ance. 92 He was disqualified because he was likely to be a
necessary witness in the case, which dealt with custody and

88 For another case on the award of attorney's fees, one which took a mathe-
matically intensive approach to the issue of "fees on fees," see McClain v. Pfizer,
Inc., No. 3:06-CV-01795 (WWE), 2013 WL 4776513 (D. Conn. Sept. 6, 2013).

89 Hutchinson v. Hutchinson, CV-13-6010380-S, 2013 WL 6510761 (Conn.
Super. Ct. Nov. 14, 2013) (discussing Rule 1.9).

90 Id. at *2 (citing In re Hostetter, 348 Or. 574, 238 P.3d 13 (2010)); but see,
e.g., In re Michal, 415 Ill. 150, 157, 112 N.E.2d 603, 606 (1953) ("The death of the
former client does not release the attorney from the obligation.").

91 Id.
92 Facchini v. Russell, FA-08-4110025-S, 2013 WL6698044 (Conn. Super. Ct.

Nov. 25, 2013).

[Vol. 88



PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY REVIEW 2013

visitation orders arising out the client's prior marriage. 93

In another case, however, the court did not disqualify
plaintiffs counsel based on the claim that counsel was a nec-
essary witness, because the information the defendant
sought could be obtained elsewise and the right to choice of
counsel weighed against disqualification. 94

Similarly, where the parties had filed twenty-six plead-
ings over the course of three years before the defendants
moved to disqualify on the grounds of an alleged conflict
they had known about when the lawsuit was filed, the court
denied the motion, noting that it should have been filed ear-
lier.95 The timing of the motion makes this case a textbook
illustration of attempting to use the Rules as a litigation
sword, and of the courts' impatience with such tactics.

Fourth, knowing the identity of your client is extremely
important. Although it should be obvious, it is not always
clear who one's client is and this dilemma can cause prob-
lems, as illustrated in two cases.

In Szulik v. TAG Virgin Islands, Inc., a federal judge
made clear in a footnote that an attorney should know pre-
cisely who the client is, "[i]f for no other reason than to pro-
tect against a conflict of interest between the entity and an
officer of the entity," citing to Rule 1.13(a).96 The former
chief executive officer had asserted the attorney-client priv-
ilege based on personal representation by the entity's corpo-
rate counsel, who was licensed in Connecticut. But he failed
to prove the existence of an attorney-client relationship,
which was of course fatal to his claim.

In Feldman v. Feldman, the court faced the same

93 Id. at *1 (citing Rule 3.7).
94 Adams v. Adams, FA-12-4119598-S, 2013 WL 1365355 (Conn. Super. Ct.

Mar. 20, 2013).
95 Czarnecki v. Lasky, CV-10-6005342-S, 2013 WL 5396712 (Conn. Super. Ct.

Sept. 4, 2013).
96 Szulik v. TAG Virgin Islands, Inc., No. 12 Civ. 1827 (PKC), 2013 WL

3989045, at *3 n.3 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 1, 2013).
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dilemma when the president of Rice Spice Noodles, Inc.
sought to have her company's law firm represent her in a
divorce from her husband, who happened to be the secretary
and only other officer of Rice Spice Noodles.97 The husband
sought to disqualify the law firm on the grounds that it rep-
resented him through the company. As in TAG Virgin
Islands, the court found no traditional attorney-client rela-
tionship. But unlike in TAG Virgin Islands, the Feldman
court went on to consider whether a "vicarious" attorney-
client relationship existed. The court reasoned that
although representation of a two-officer company did not
per se form an attorney-client relationship with the individ-
ual officers, it could if: (i) the law firm acquired confidential
information from an officer that it could use against him; or
(ii) the law firm's loyalties would be conflicted as a result of
the dual representation. Here, no such concerns existed.
The law firm had never even spoken with the husband and
the wife was the sole shareholder. The court denied the
motion to disqualify.

Although the authors are wary of the potential for a slippery
slope in defining who counts as a client, a narrowly drawn
exception has merit. If a corporate attorney's position grants
privileged access to an employee's finances, it would be
unjust for the attorney to use that knowledge to secure a
more favorable judgment against that employee for a third
party. The courts that do use a 'vicarious attorney-client
relationship' analysis seem to confine it to such instances,
where an attorney both represents an overarching associa-
tion and has a substantial relationship with the individual
member.98 In the authors' opinion, if recognized at all, such

97 Feldman v. Feldman, FA-12-4119410-S, 2013 WL 2501988 (Conn. Super.
Ct. May 22, 2013).

98 See, e.g., Westerly Capital, LLC v. Windmill Mgmt., LLC, No. CV-08-
6000954-S, 2008 WL 4982942 (Conn. Super. Ct. Oct. 30, 2008) (no vicarious attor-
ney-client relationship existed between law firm and owner of two companies
where law firm represented companies in unrelated matters and had no contact
with owner); Colorpix Sys. of Am. v. Broan Mfg. Co., 131 F. Supp. 2d 331 (D. Conn.
2001) (vicarious attorney-client relationship existed between law firm and sub-
sidiary where law firm represented parent company in similar litigation and sub-
sidiary shared legal department with parent); Glueck v. Jonathan Logan, Inc., 653
F.2d 746 (2d Cir. 1981) (vicarious attorney-client relationship existed between law
firm and trade association member where law firm represented trade association
and member's president was trade association's executive vice president, who had
discussed similar matters with law firm in that capacity).
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analysis should be kept within those confines.

Fifth, a federal court approved with conditions a request
to conduct ex parte communications with former employees
of the adverse party in an employment discrimination
action, which might otherwise be prohibited under Rule
4.2. 99 Rule 4.2 does not prohibit ex parte interviews of a cor-
porate party's former employees unless those employees
"continue to personify the organization even after they have
terminated their employment relationship."'100 In allowing
the interviews, the court adopted the conditions imposed in
Weber v. Fujifilm Medical Systems, U.S.A., 101 which allowed
defense counsel to educate the employees on privilege and
confidentiality and to discontinue the interviews if plain-
tiffs counsel engaged in ethical violations or questionable
ethical behavior. 102

III. ETHICS OPINIONS

A. ABA Opinions

The ABA issued four ethics opinions in 2013,103 three of
which warrant discussion.

In Formal Opinion 464, the ABA issued the "D.C. opinion."
The District of Columbia permits lawyers to share fees with
certain nonlawyers. The Model Rules of Professional
Conduct and most jurisdictions do not allow fee sharing
with nonlawyers. The quandary arises when a non-D.C.
lawyer shares legal fees with a D.C. lawyer who operates
under this business model. The ABA opined that it is per-
missible for the non-D.C. lawyer to share fees with the D.C.

99 Saliga v. Chemtura Corp., No. 3:12-CV-832 (RNC), 2013 WL 6097100 (D.
Conn. Nov. 20, 2013).

100 Id. at *1.
101 Weber v. Fujifilm Med. Sys., U.S.A., No. 3:10-CV-401 (JBA), 2010 WL

2836720 (D. Conn. July 19, 2010).
102 Saliga, 2013 WL 6097100, at *2.
103 ABA Comm. on Ethics & Prof'l Responsibility, Formal Op. 462 (Feb. 21,

2013) ("Judge's Use of Electronic Social Networking Media"); id., Formal Op. 463
(May 23, 2013) ("Client Due Diligence, Money Laundering, and Terrorist
Financing"); id., Formal Op. 464 (Aug. 19, 2013) ("Division of Legal Fees With
Other Lawyers Who May Lawfully Share Fees With Nonlawyers"); id., Formal Op.
465 (Oct. 21, 2013) ("Lawyers' Use of the Deal-of-the-Day Marketing Programs").
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lawyer, who could then share the fees under the Rules of
that jurisdiction. As law firm business models continue to
evolve, this opinion could offer guidance for collaboration
among law firms with different jurisdictional Rules.

In Formal Opinion 465, the ABA responded to new types
of marketing opportunities on the Internet. The opinion
addresses the Rules that must be considered before an
attorney advertises with a group-coupon or deal-of-the-day
marketing tool and cautions that the conduct is permissible
only under the right circumstances.

Finally, in a reflection on world events, Formal Opinion
463 discussed the ABA Voluntary Good Practices Guidance
for Lawyers to Detect and Combat Money Laundering and
Terrorist Financing in relation to the Rules.

B. CBA Opinions

The Connecticut Bar Association issued ten ethics opinions
in 2013.104 The opinion on providing legal representation to
businesses operating under the new medical marijuana
state laws received the most local media attention. Informal
Opinion 2013-02 had concluded that a lawyer could not
assist clients in violation of the federal Controlled
Substances Act even if state law permitted the conduct. In
response, the Commentary to Rules of Professional Conduct
1.2 and 8.4 was amended to allow a lawyer to "counsel or
assist a client regarding conduct expressly permitted by
Connecticut law, provided that the lawyer counsels the
client about the legal consequences, under other applicable
law, of the client's proposed course of conduct."105

104 CBA Comm. on Profl Ethics, Informal Op. 2013-01 ("Fee Sharing with a
Suspended Lawyer"); id. Informal Op. 2013-02 ("Providing Legal Services to
Clients Seeking Licenses Under the Connecticut Medical Marijuana Law"); id.
Informal Op. 2013-03 ("Accreditation with Better Business Bureau"); id. Informal
Op. 2013-04 ("Referral Fee for Action Against Former Client"); id. Informal Op.
2013-05 ("Duty to Report Suspected Professional Misconduct'); id. Informal Op.
2013-06 ("Consent to Personal Interest Conflict of Interest"); id. Informal Op.
2013-07 ("Cloud Computing'); id. Informal Op. 2013-08 ("Use of a Call Recording
Service"); id. Informal Op. 2013-09 ("Former Probate Judge's Compliance with
Rule 1.12(a)"); id. Informal Op. 2013-10 ("Permissibility of Non-Disparagement
Clauses Under Rule 5.6(2)").

105 Joseph J. Del Ciarnpo, Superior Court Rules, 76 CONN. L.J. 1, 15PB, 19PB (July
1, 2014) (Rule 1.2 text and commentary); id. at 66PB-67PB (Rule 8.4 commentary).
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The CBA Standing Committee on Professional Ethics
also addressed the difficult issue of the duty to report con-
duct of another attorney in Informal Opinion 2013-05. The
committee concluded there was no duty to report under the
facts presented because the inquirer could only identify a
"possible" conflict of interest and a "potential, future mis-
representation" to the courts. 106 The duty to report requires
that the attorney have actual knowledge of a violation of the
Rules. 10 7 Any person may report potential misconduct by an
attorney. 108 A lawyer who has actual knowledge of attorney
misconduct and fails to report it, however, may be subject to
disciplinary action as a result of that omission.109

Non-disparagement clauses are arising in new places,
most recently in settlements of foreclosure actions, which
were addressed in Informal Opinion 2013-10. The defendant
mortgage lender is demanding a non-disparagement clause
that binds both the homeowner plaintiffs and their legal
counsel. The attorney in that situation must be careful that
the language of the clause does not violate Rule 5.6 by
"restrict[ing] the lawyer's ability to vigorously represent
other clients" against that defendant. 110

IV. CHANGES TO THE RULES OF PRACTICE

In 2013, the most significant changes were to conform
the Connecticut Rules of Professional Conduct to amend-
ments in the Model Rules of Professional Conduct. The Rule
on confidentiality, Rule 1.6, now allows lawyers who are
changing employment to investigate and resolve conflicts of
interest, provided that the attorney-client privilege is not
compromised and the client is not otherwise prejudiced."'
Similarly, Rule 1.10 was amended to provide a screening
process for lawyers who are changing firms consistent with
ABA Formal Opinion 455 (2009).112 Prior to the amend-

106 CBA Comm. on Profl Ethics, Informal Op. 2013-05, at 2.
107 CONN. RULES OF PROF'L CONDUCT R. 8.3(a).
108 PRACTICE BOOK § 2-32(a).
109 CONN. RULES OF PROF'L CONDUCT R. 8.3(a).
110 CBA Comm. on Profl Ethics, Informal Op. 2013-10, at 2.
111 CONN. RULES OF PROF'L CONDUCT R. 1.6(c)(5) (amended effective Jan. 1, 2014).
112 Id. R. 1.10(2) (amended effective Jan. 1, 2013); see also id., amend, note.
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ment, the imputed disqualification rule could have disquali-
fied the firm.

A change that is not in the Model Rules of Professional
Conduct was made to Connecticut Rule 7.2 on attorney
advertising. The new Rule 7.20) allows Internet-based
client-to-lawyer matching, provided it complies with the
other Rules. The authors remain befuddled as to why the
Internet seems so different from other means of communica-
tions that it warrants its own Rule. For example, client-to-
lawyer matching services are the foundation of bar associa-
tion referral services and no one questioned whether the
Rules forbade such services.

The Practice Book and the Rules of Professional Conduct
now allow for limited scope representation. 113 Also, Section
2-15A of the Practice Book and Rule 5.5 now allow author-
ized in-house counsel to provide pro bono legal services.

Additional changes relevant to professional responsibility
were made to the Practice Book in 2013. First, the Office of
Disciplinary Counsel may now add allegations of misconduct
to the probable cause findings of the grievance panel. 114

Second, an order to submit to an audit or periodic audits of
attorney trust accounts was added to the sanctions which a
reviewing committee can impose upon finding a violation of
Rule 1.15.115 Third, in a substantial change, resignation no
longer shields a lawyer from a pending disciplinary action. 116

For a resignation to be accepted, the attorney must now sub-
mit an affidavit either admitting the material allegations of
the complaint or acknowledging there is sufficient evidence
to prove them. 117 The lawyer seeking to retire should also be
aware that there are now two applicable provisions; one is
permanent and one is revocable. 118 A lawyer may retire with
the right of revocation and continue to engage in uncompen-
sated services on a conditional basis under Section 2-55(e).

113 The limited scope of representation rules (effective Oct. 1, 2013) are
Practice Book §§ 3-3, 3-8 and 3-9. The relevant Rule is 1.2.

114 Id. § 2-35(d) (amended effective Jan. 1, 2013); see also id. § 2-34A(b)(4)

(amended effective Jan. 1, 2013).
115 Id. § 2-37(a)(7) (amended effective Jan. 1, 2013).
116 Id. § 2-52 (amended effective Jan. 1, 2013).
117 Id. § 2-52 (b)(1)-(4).
118 Id. § 2-55 (right of revocation); id. § 2-55A (permanent).
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V. CURRENT AND FUTURE PROFESSIONALISM ISSUES

A. Attorney Minimum Continuing Legal Education and
Licensing Paralegals

The CBA minimum continuing legal education proposal,
after years of research and drafting, saw its demise in a
Judicial Branch committee in 2012. Connecticut remains
one of the few states without any continuing legal education
requirement for attorneys. But in the midst of the roaring
silence on MCLE are whispers of licensing paralegals in
Connecticut, with reference to the 2012 program adopted by
the Washington Supreme Court.

The Washington Supreme Court adopted a Limited
License Legal Technician (LLLT) Rule, 119 sometimes referred
to as 'the licensing of paralegals.' The legal technician is not
a lawyer, but may provide form completion services and
advise clients on specific areas of law. The Washington
Supreme Court established a new administrative body with
all the corresponding costs and expenses-called the LLLT
Board-to oversee the licensing and to establish areas of the
law in which to license LLLTs, who are currently limited to
just family law. The licensing rule includes regulations for
conduct, exam procedures, and disciplinary procedures.
The Washington rule also lays out and requires continuing
education for the LTs. But unlike Connecticut,
Washington has an established attorney MCLE program
requiring a minimum of forty-five hours of approved
continuing legal education in each three-year reporting
period.120

If the issue is the increase in self-represented parties
in our courts, can independent paralegals, who will be
performing legal services for a fee, not providing pro bono
services, fix the problem? In the authors' opinion the answer
is a resounding 'no!' In fact, it would create more problems
than it would solve. First, it would add to the already

119 WASH. ADMISSION & PRACTICE RULES R. 28.
120 Id. R. 11.
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significant number of legal service providers without neces-
sarily providing greater access to those most in need.
Second, it would create a two-tier system of legal services
where the wealthy would be able to retain fully trained,
highly experienced lawyers and the very poor would have
access to experienced pro-bono lawyers, but the poor would
have access only to licensed paralegals who could provide
them with limited services. Third, it does not address the
many self-represented who elect to be self-represented. The
future of these issues remains to be seen. In the authors'
view, considering the licensing of independent paralegals
prior to addressing the need for minimum continuing legal
education for attorneys is myopic.

B. Conflicts of Interest when Ethics Counsel is a Member
of the Law Firm

A law firm should not assume that communications
between the firm's in-house counsel and its attorneys are
automatically privileged. Key decisions from the highest
state court in Massachusetts and Georgia have provided
guidance in this area. 12 1 Generally, the issue before the
Courts was whether confidential communications between
firm attorneys and the law firm's in-house counsel concern-
ing a malpractice action or a potential malpractice action are
protected from disclosure to the client by the attorney-client
privilege. The answer in both cases was a resounding yes. 122

The two sides' arguments are as follows. On the one
hand, the lawyers advocating for the privilege argued that
the documents and communications in question involved
efforts by the firm to investigate, evaluate, and potentially
respond to claims made by the former client. As a result

121 Oregon joined Massachusetts and Georgia in 2014 when its Supreme
Court decided Crimson Trace Corp. v. Davis Wright Tremaine LLP, 355 Or. 476,
326 P.3d 1181 (2014). The outcome in Oregon was the same, the main distinction
being that Massachusetts and Georgia decided the issue primarily as a matter of
common law while the Oregon Court relied on a statutory privilege.

122 RFF Family Partnership, LP v. Burns & Levinson, LLP, 465 Mass. 702,
991 N.E.2d 1066 (2013); St. Simons Waterfront, LLC v. Hunter, Maclean, Exley &
Dunn, P.C., 293 Ga. 419, 746 S.E.2d 98 (2013).
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of their nature, all of those communications should be
privileged. On the other hand, the former clients argued
that would make it too easy for a firm to hide its own mal-
practice by using in-house counsel to assist the firm in cov-
ering it up. Ultimately, the clients' position is based on
lawyers' obligation to act in the best interest of their clients.

The Supreme Courts of Massachusetts and Georgia con-
cluded that the privilege applied. Each Court propounded a
four-part test. In Massachusetts, the four-part test requires:
(i) that the law firm designate an attorney within the firm
to represent it as in-house counsel; (ii) that the firm's in-
house counsel never have worked on the matter in question
or on a substantially related matter; (iii) that the firm not
bill the client for time spent consulting in-house counsel;
and (iv) that the communications be made in confidence and
be kept confidential.123

The Georgia test requires that there be an attorney-
client relationship, meaning that there must be a determi-
nation that:

[T]he attorney purporting to act as the firm's in-house counsel
was actually acting in that capacity with regard to antici-
pated legal action against the firm or other matters related
to the firm's compliance with its legal and ethical obliga-
tions. The firm should be clearly established as the client
before or in the course of the in-firm communication for the
attorney-client privilege to attach. Whether the firm has
attained the status of its in-house counsel's "client" in a
given situation is a fact-based determination, which may
depend in part on the procedures undertaken to establish
the potential or actual malpractice claim against the firm as
a matter distinct from the firm's underlying representation
of the client asserting the claim. 124

Georgia also requires that the communications in ques-
tion clearly relate to the matters on which legal advice was
sought. Like Massachusetts, Georgia requires that the
statements be made and maintained in confidence. And
there can be no applicable exception to the attorney-client

123 RFF Family Partnership, 465 Mass. at 723.
124 St. Simons Waterfront, 293 Ga. at 423-24.
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privilege, like the crime-fraud exception. 125 Moreover,
Georgia specifically noted that the question before it had no
bearing on the ethical obligations of the lawyers in Georgia
under the state's Rules of Professional Conduct. 126

Neither Court was willing to create a fiduciary duty
exception to the privilege. 127

Although Connecticut has not yet decided the issue, the
take-home from these cases is as follows. Firms should con-
sider designating one or a group of lawyers as the firm's
counsel. Ensure that any communications between a lawyer
and in-house counsel involving claims of malpractice or
alleged malpractice are made and kept confidential. Finally,
do not bill the client for those communications.

VI. A MESSAGE FROM THE IMMEDIATE PAST CBA PRESIDENT 128

During the bar year 2013-2014, one of the authors of this
article, Kimberly A. Knox, was President of the Connecticut
Bar Association. The members of the CBA consistently
demonstrated their dedication to promoting the public inter-
est through advancement of justice and the protection of lib-
erty. These Connecticut lawyers collaborated on projects
and initiatives which served to protect and enhance the rule
of law. "The rule of law is the underlying framework of rules
and rights that make prosperous and fair societies possible.
The rule of law is a system in which no one, including gov-
ernment, is above the law; where laws protect fundamental
rights; and where justice is accessible to all."' 29 This edition
of the Professional Responsibility Review is dedicated to all
the CBA members who serve on the CBA's governing bodies,
sections, committees, and task forces and make a difference
in the lives of others. Kimberly would like to thank you for
the honor and privilege of having served as your President.

125 Id. at 427.
126 Id. at 428.
127 RFF Family Partnership, 465 Mass. at 716; St. Simons Waterfront, 293 Ga.

at 428.
128 Kimberly A. Knox was the Connecticut Bar Association President from

July 1, 2013 to June 30, 2014.
129 The World Justice Project, What is the Rule of Law?, www.worldjustice-

project.org/what-rule-law (last visited Feb. 9, 2014).
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